




“Jol I Stetesdal”: A Minnesota Tradition 

By Loiell Dyrud 

“Jol i Setesdal!” What a beautiful phrase, conjuring up a return to the remote 
Setesdal Valley, nestled in the mountains, to celebrate Christmas in the warmth of family 
and friends. However, in the flat lands of northwestern Minnesota, 6,500 kilometers away 
from Norway’s Setesdal Valley, “Jol i Satersdal” means returning to the little Satersdal 
Lutheran Church of rural Thief River Falls to celebrate the annual Christmas program on 
the Saturday evening between Christmas and New Year’s. 

Nestled along the bank of the Silver Creek, Satersdal Church is not much to look 
at, but it has enormous sentimental and spiritual value for the descendants of those who 
came from Norway’s Setesdal valley in the late 19th Century. Its story is unique in many 
ways. 

In 1863, a treaty with the Ojibwe (Chippewa) Indians of northwestern Minnesota 
and northeastern North Dakota resulted in opening ten million acres of land (a little over 
four million Norwegian hectares) for homesteading on either side of the Red River of the 
North—some of the most fertile farmland in the world. Thousands of Norwegian 
emigrants poured into this vast stretch of land beginning in the early 1870s. On the 
Minnesota side of the Red River, just south of today’s Grand Forks, a steady stream of 
people from the Setesdal Valley formed a community called “Bygland,” named after their 
homeland. (Today the town of Bygland, Minnesota, no longer exists, but the town was 
originally between Fisher and East Grand Forks.) 

Though many immigrants continued to use their father’s names as they did in 
Norway— Olson, Johnson, Larson, and Knutson— many chose place names from 
Setesdal for their last names. As a result names such as Austad, Bergland, Frøysnes, Ose, 
Skomedal, and Sordal were common in this settlement. 

But as more of the land close to the Red River was taken, people from Setesdal 
would come to Bygland, Minnesota, for a few years, and not finding land there, moved 
on to other communities bringing their friends and relatives along. Such was the case in 
the 1880s when several people from the Bygland, Minnesota, community moved about 
fifty miles north to an area along the Thief River in Excel Township of Marshall County. 
(The city of Thief River Falls did not yet exist.)  

Records indicate that Gunnuf Frøysnes (They changed the “y” to “i” in America 
as well as the “ø” to “o.”) moved to Excel Township in 1883. By 1886, he had convinced 
his brother-in-law, Tallak Knutson Ose, a widower, who had come to Bygland, 
Minnesota, in 1872, to join him in Excel Township. Tallak brought with him his son Knut 
and wife Ingebjørg Larrson Berg with their four children. Furthermore, in 1887, Gunnuf 
convinced his other brother-in-law, John Gunsteinson Skomedal, also a widower, who 
had come to Bygland in 1882, to join him in Excel Township. Like his brother-in-law 
Tallak, John Skomedal was also able to convince his son Gunstein and wife Tora Ljostok 
and their children to join him in Excel. So now three families from the Setesdal Valley—
Froisnes, Skomedal, and Ose—were living in Excel Township. 

In America, a township is an area of land six American miles by six American 
miles. (A township would be almost 10 kilometers by 10 kilometers square) Almost all 
the land across America, west of the Appalachian Mountains, is divided into these square 
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townships. Each township is further divided into 36 parcels of land called “sections”  
(Each section is 1.6 kilometers by 1.6 kilometers). Each Section is further divided into 
four “quarter sections.” Each quarter section is made up of 160 acres. (160 American 
acres is the equivalent of 65 Norwegian hectares.) In order to get people to settle across 
America, the United States government passed the Homestead Act in the 1860s, granting 
a quarter Section of land free to immigrants on a first come basis.  
 For land-starved Norwegians, this opportunity was irresistible, and so they came 
to this part of Minnesota for the endless acres of free land that reached as far as the eye 
could see up and down the Red River Valley. 
 Soon the S. Ole Bergland family arrived in Excel Township and Targei 
Asmundsen Jopperud and his wife Anne Jonsdaughter Besteland. (In America the 
Jopperuds changed their name to “Joppru.”) Other families named Sordal, Austad, 
Rysstad followed, and soon names on mailboxes along the Thief River resembled a drive 
through the Setesdal Valley in Norway. So unique were some of the names that three 
brothers each registered a different last name— Ole Olsen, Halvor Olsen Listol, and John 
Olsen Espeli. 
 During the mid-1880s, itinerant Lutheran pastors began meeting in the small log 
cabins of these Setesdal Valley immigrants. In 1891, a Lutheran congregation was 
officially organized at the home of Gunstein Skomedal.  
 Because almost all of the potential members of the congregation had come from 
the Setesdal Valley, they chose the obvious name for the congregation —“The Saterdal’s 
Scandinavian Evangelical Lutheran Church of the town of Excel.” Much confusion over 
the spelling has occurred through the years. “Saterdal” is the original recorded spelling. 
Other variations in church records appear as “Satesdal,” “Saetesdal,” “Setersdal,” and 
“Satersdal.”But, “Satersdal” has become the preferred spelling. 
 The congregation met in homes whenever a pastor traveled through the territory. 
In the spring of 1896, Tellef Olsen Tverstol, who was married to Anna Johnsdtr. 
Skomedal called a meeting of the congregation in his home. He was born in Aamli, Aust-
Agder and had settled in Excel Township around 1890. Tverstol announced that he would 
give a corner of his land for a cemetery and church. Within a month he died and was the 
first to be buried in the cemetery on his land. Nevertheless, the church was built later that 
summer.  
 Directly to the north of the “Sætersdolene” community, was a German settlement. 
After the death of Tverstol, his widow married Halvor Listol, and in 1906 they sold the 
land that included the church and cemetery to a German immigrant and moved a few 
miles to the south.  
 Within a short time after the German bought the land, he discovered that the part 
deeded to the church had been incorrectly recorded. He was also a Catholic and resented 
the presence of a Lutheran church on his property. He gave them an ultimatum: “I’ll give 
you six months to move the church and dig up the bones or I’ll burn down the church and 
plow up the tombstones!” The members decided to move. But where?    
 Fortunately, in 1896 another agreement with the Red Lake Band of Ojibwe 
Indians had opened up more land on the east side of the Thief River. Many of the 
Sætersdolene from the west side of the river moved across to the new land as well as 
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several new arrivals from Norway. Gunnie Ose, brother of Knut Ose, settled on the east 
side of the river at the mouth of the Silver Creek. In December of the same year, he gave 
land for the Satersdal Church to be moved. Ironically, within three months, February 
1907, his sister-in-law Ingebjørg (Larsdotter Berg) Ose, died in childbirth trying to 
deliver twins and was the first to be buried on the new cemetery.  
 In the winter of 1908, Ole Olsen and his brother Halvor Listol with the help of 
twenty-two oxen moved the church across the Thief River and up the Silver Creek two 
and a half miles to the Gunnie Ose property where it stands today.  
 Each family was responsible for moving its deceased members to the new 
cemetery. Curiosity overcame some, and coffins were opened. Margit Ose Austad, who 
had died in 1897, had the lid removed from her coffin by the Ose boys. They said her 
image was intact for a while; then she crumbled into dust except for her legs that 
remained firmly encased in wool stockings. Torbjon Skomedal also opened the coffin of 
his grandfather, John, who had died eight years earlier. Under the glass window of the 
coffin, they could see him; but when the lid was lifted, “Gamle John,” too, crumbled— 
“Ashes to ashes, dust to dust.” 
 Through the years, membership in Satersdal Congregation remained almost 
exclusively Norwegians from the Setesdal Valley, but other Norwegian families by the 
name of Moe, Oen, and Klungness joined as well as some Swedes. All the church records, 
however, were written in Norwegian until the 1930s and most of the services were held in 
Norwegian until then as well.  
 Pastors and evangelists from Norway often held meetings in Satersdal Church. 
Most notable perhaps was Evangelist Lars Berg from Hylestad. In April 1931, he held 
meetings in the church and stayed at the home of his cousins, the Oses.  (This is the same 
home in which this writer currently lives.) Church records indicate Berg had four days of 
“to moter hverdag” (Two meetings each day). 
 Lars Berg has an aunt and uncle as well as several first cousins buried in the 
Satersdal cemetery. His aunt Ingebjørg emigrated to America in 1882 and married Knut 
Ose shortly after arriving. As mentioned above, she died in 1907.  
 Berg’s uncle Torleiv Larsson Berg is also buried in the Satersdal Cemetery. He 
left the Setesdal Valley in 1903 and a year later sent passage money for the rest of his 
family to join him, but they never made it. Seven members of his family drowned on their 
way to America when the ship Norge sank in the North Atlantic in June 1904. On board 
that ship were his wife Sigrid Ånundsdotr. Rysstad and their six children, ages five to 
sixteen. A memorial stone is being planned for them and will be set next to the grave of 
Torleiv Berg. He never remarried and lived out his lonely life alone until his death in 
1952 at the age of 92. 
 Lars Berg’s oldest son Olav visited the Satersdal Church and stayed in the Ose 
home while he was working in a Brooklyn, New York, hospital. Shortly thereafter, he 
went to sea with the resistance forces in World War II. In 1942, his ship was torpedoed, 
and he drowned. Another son, Nicolai (Lai) Berg, also stayed for a time in the Ose home 
where he was visiting in the late 1940s and attended Satersdal Church. His grandson Olav 
Berg Thomassen visited the area in the 1990s with his son Anders. 
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 The Satersdal Congregation was affiliated with the Lutheran Free Church, a 
church body founded in 1897 by Georg Sverdrup and Sven Oftedal, professors of 
Augsburg Seminary in Minneapolis. Thereafter, pastors from the Lutheran Free Church 
served the congregation. Satersdal was part of a Norwegian Lutheran Free Church parish 
that was made up of four other churches—Rindahl, Reiner, Bethlehem, and Our 
Saviour’s in Thief River Falls—all served by the same pastor.  
 Though many are vacant today, these small, rural church buildings still dot the 
American landscape, often only three or four miles apart. In fact one can still see three of 
these country churches while driving down the road less than a mile from where this 
writer lives.  
 Originally immigrants with large families settled every parcel of land, but today 
the rural population is greatly diminished. Cars replaced horses and roads linking the 
farms to the cities were greatly improved. Having a church within a few miles of where 
you lived was no longer a necessity. Since people were driving to town for work, driving 
to town for church was not a problem. Why maintain several small country churches 
when a parish could consolidate into one large congregation in town?  
 Couple that with the fact that for the past hundred years America has undergone a 
continuous out-migration of its rural population to the cities. As more of the rural 
population moved to town, fewer were left who made their living exclusively from the 
farm. In fact there are only three families in Excel Township today who make their 
complete living from the farm. Interestingly enough, thousands of acres in Excel 
Township are still farmed by people with the name of Ose and Joppru. And listed among 
those two families’ ancestors are the names Bergland, Skomedal, and Froisnes as well—
some things never change! 
 And so it was that in the fall of 1959, Satersdal Congregation voted to close its 
doors and merge with its sister congregation Our Saviour’s Lutheran Church of Thief 
River Falls. Though the electricity was cut, the doors have never been locked. And 
beginning in the spring of 1960, there has been a Memorial Day Service every year 
during the last week of May. Families were assigned on a rotational basis to be 
responsible for the program, and a cemetery board oversees the operation. 
 In 1979, these families decided to have a Christmas program in the tradition of 
long ago. Saturday evening between Christmas and New Year’s is the chosen day. Since 
there is no electricity, the program is scheduled to begin at 5:00, allowing people to arrive 
while there is still a glow in the western sky. Only candles light the church as the 
program begins. Randy Moe, a third generation member of the Moe family drives up 
from Minneapolis and starts pedaling the old pump organ that has been in the church 
since around 1910.  
 But the highlight of the evening, the event everyone waits for, is lighting the 
candles on the Christmas tree. The honor is reserved for a woman, usually one who is a 
descendant of one of the original families, who lights the candles, one by one, while the 
congregation sings verse after verse of “Jeg er så glad hver Julekveld.” Believe it or not, 
the extra light from the few candles on the tree really do make the room grow lighter 
even as the words of the song say: “Then Mother trims the Christmas tree and fills the 
room with light.” At least the people in the audience seem to think it is so! 
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 After a message and songs provided by descendants of the original members, the 
evening closes with the singing of “Silent Night,” apples are handed out, and after a brief 
visit among the faithful in the dim light, the candles are slowly extinguished, and the 
audience walks out into the brisk, northern Minnesota night air. Following the program, 
the friends of Satersdal gather in homes of former members living in the area. Parents in 
the community often bring their children to this service to see how Christmas was 
observed a hundred years ago. Only twice in the past thirty years has the Christmas 
program been cancelled because of blizzards, but turnout varies depending on the cold.  
 In the summer of 1991, Satersdal Church celebrated its 100th anniversary under a 
big tent, set along side the church, with hundreds of people in attendance. Rev. Gaylen 
Ose, son of the congregation (now deceased), was one of the speakers.  
 In 2009, Excel Township celebrated its 125th anniversary, and Satersdal Church 
was host to the morning worship service. Two sons of the congregation were in charge. 
Rev. Connely Dyrud, an Ose descendant and retired missionary to Brazil, led the service; 
and Rev. Roger Ose, retired missionary to Madagascar, spoke. 
 The church and cemetery have always been well maintained as a result of 
offerings taken at the two annual services, but most of the work is volunteer work. For 
the past twenty years, the caretakers have been descendants of the Joppru family.  
 There are around 110 graves on the cemetery. In recent years, tombstones have 
been placed on unmarked graves. This process continues as funds allow. For the past 
three years a semi-annual newsletter has been sent to descendants of former members. 
Funds for maintaining the cemetery have been steadily increasing, and the future looks 
good. 
 In 2012, the church building that held regular Sunday Morning Services for fifty-
five years will have been serving the descendants of the congregation with Memorial Day 
and Christmas Services for fifty-three years—almost as long as it served the actual 
congregation.  
 It is hard to know why this particular church continues these traditions when 
thousands of rural churches across America have been abandoned, left unpainted to 
crumble in the dust, or moved to neighboring farms for granaries and storage sheds. 
Perhaps it is the result of a certain rugged, tenaciousness that was bred into these people 
that lived between the mountains of the remote Setesdal Valley and that transported to 
America still lives on among the people living on this flat land of northwest Minnesota. 
And so this year on Saturday, December 29, they will gather again, some from hundreds 
of miles away, to share the warmth of family and friends and to share their love for this, 
their “spiritual home” on the banks of the Silver Creek. 
 
  
 
   
   
 
 














